

W&M ScholarWorks

Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

2012

The Effects of Salinity Pulses of Varying Duration and Intensity on Three Freshwater Submerged Aquatic Vegetation Species

Rebecca Wright College of William and Mary - Virginia Institute of Marine Science

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/etd

Part of the Botany Commons, Marine Biology Commons, and the Oceanography Commons

Recommended Citation

Wright, Rebecca, "The Effects of Salinity Pulses of Varying Duration and Intensity on Three Freshwater Submerged Aquatic Vegetation Species" (2012). *Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects.* Paper 1539617929.

https://dx.doi.org/doi:10.25773/v5-z6k1-jt10

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

The Effects of Salinity Pulses of Varying Duration and Intensity on Three Freshwater Submerged Aquatic Vegetation Species

> A Thesis Presented To The Faculty of the School of Marine Science The College of William and Mary in Virginia

In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

> by Rebecca Wright 2012

APPROVAL SHEET

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of

The requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Rebecca Wright

Approved, by the Committee, July 27 2012

emitte Mong

Kenneth A. Moore, Ph.D. Advisor

Polit 105

Robert Orth, Ph.D.

James Perry, Ph.D.

John Brubaker, Ph.D.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEGEMENTSv |
|--|
| LIST OF TABLESvi |
| LIST OF FIGURES vii-viii |
| ABSTRACT ixx |
| INTRODUCTION2 |
| Mechanisms of Salinity Stress5 |
| Study Species7 |
| Heteranthera dubia7 |
| Hydrilla verticillata7 |
| Vallisneria americana11 |
| Rate of Increase |
| Measurement Techniques14 |
| Objectives14 |
| METHODS |
| Mesocosm Design |
| Stress Measurement Methods |
| Levels of Stress |
| Statistics |
| RESULTS |
| Growth, Morphology, and Biomass24 |
| Experiment 1: The effect of duration and intensity of salinity pulses on H. |
| verticillata24 |
| Experiment 2: The tolerance of <i>H. dubia</i> |
| Experiment 3: The response of <i>H. dubia, H. verticillata,</i> and <i>V. americana</i> to |
| repeated week long salinity pulses |
| Experiment 4: The response of <i>H. dubia, H. verticillata,</i> and <i>V. americana</i> to |
| repeated two day salinity pulses |
| Experiment 5: The effects of gradual vs. rapid salinity increase |
| Photosynthetic Stress Responses |
| Chlorophyll |
| Pulse Amplitude Modulated Fluorometry |
| Oxygen Metabolism |
| DISCUSSION |
| Salinity Tolerance Levels |
| Heteranthera dubia |

| Hydrilla verticillata | |
|---|-------|
| Vallisneria americana | 41 |
| Duration and Recovery | |
| Repeated Pulses | 43 |
| The Effects of Gradulal vs. Rapid Salinity Increase | 44 |
| Variable Comparison | 45 |
| Interspecies Competition | |
| Applications and Impacts | |
| Conclusions | 50 |
| LITERATURE CITED | 51-54 |
| FIGURES | |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Kenneth Moore, my advisor, for accepting me as his graduate student and for all of his help with this project. None of this would have been possible without his guidance and assistance. I would like to thank my advisory committee, Dr. Robert "JJ" Orth, Dr. James Perry, and Dr. John Brubaker for their support and advice throughout this project. Thanks to my lab mates, Erin Shields for advice and assistance, Emily French for all of her help during the summers, and everyone else in the Moore lab. Thank you also to all of my fellow students. I would especially like to thank my parents Barbara and Ian Wright for their support.

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

| 1. Summary of previous experimental results of the effect of salinity on <i>H. verticillata</i> | 10 |
|---|-------|
| 2. Summary of previous experimental results of the effect of salinity on V. americana | 12-13 |
| 3. Summary of methods | |
| 4. Results of the AIC analysis of H.verticillata growth | 25 |
| 5. Mean water quality during Experiment 2 | 27 |
| 6. Mean water quality during Experiment 3 | 29 |
| 7. Mean water quality during Experiment 4 | 31 |
| 8. Non-significant p-values for various measures of chlorophyll in experiment 3 | |
| 9. Non-significant p-values for various measures of chlorophyll in experiment 4 | 37 |
| 10. Stress levels based on growth variables for <i>H. dubia</i> | 40 |
| 11. Stress levels based on growth variables for <i>H. verticillata</i> | 41 |
| 12. Stress levels based on growth variables for -V. americana | 42 |
| 13. Growth as a factor of duration and salinity for <i>H. verticillata</i> | |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | Page |
|--|-----------|
| 1. Salinity pulse graphical representations | 55 |
| 2. Experimental setup | 56 |
| 3. Definition of MQyield and rETR _{max} | 57 |
| 4. Percentage of replicates containing surviving H. verticillata after 28 days | 58 |
| 5. Total length change of <i>H. verticillata</i> in various salinities and durations | |
| 6. Plotted interactive general linear model results of <i>H. verticillata</i> | 60 |
| 7. Interpolation of summed lengths across salinity intensities and durations | 61 |
| 8. Above and belowground biomass after 28 days | 62 |
| 9. Branch number for <i>H. verticillata</i> after 28 days | 63 |
| 10. Maximum branch length for H. verticillata after 28 days | 64 |
| 11. Length change over time for <i>H. verticillata</i> exposed to 3 PSU | 65 |
| 12. Length change over time for <i>H. verticillata</i> exposed to 5 PSU | 66 |
| 13. Temperature in a mesocosm container over the course of the experiment | 67 |
| 14. Difference between temperature inside a mesocosm container and in nursery tank | 68 |
| 15. Change in lengths of <i>H. dubia</i> in each of the various salinities after 16 days | 69 |
| 16. Number of branches of <i>H. dubia</i> in each experimental salinity after 16 days | 70 |
| 17. Above and belowground biomass of <i>H. dubia</i> in various salinities after 16 days | 71 |
| 18. Aboveground organic content of <i>H. dubia</i> various salinities after 16 days | 72 |
| 19. Average maximum branch length of <i>H. dubia</i> in each experimental salinity over time | 73 |
| 20. Maximum lengths of each species in various salinities | 74 |
| 21. Branch number of each species in various salinities | 75 |
| 22. Aboveground biomass for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses. | 76 |
| 23. Belowground biomass for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses | 77 |
| 24. Aboveground organic content for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses | |
| 25. Belowground organic content for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses | |
| 26. Temperature change over the experiment | 80 |
| 27. Change in maximum lengths for each species in various salinities | 81 |
| 28. Change in branch number for each species in various salinities | 82 |
| 29. Change in maximum branch/blade length with various salinity adjustment patterns | 83 |
| 30. Change in branch number with various patterns of salinity adjustment | 84 |
| 31. Chlorophyll a and b of <i>H. dubia</i> exposed to various salinities | 85 |
| 32. Chlorophyll a/b ratio of H. dubia exposed various salinities | 86 |
| 33. Chlorophyll a content of plants exposed to salinity pulses | 87 |
| 34. Chlorophyll a/b ratio of plants exposed to salinity pulses | |
| 35. Maximum quantum yield after 28 days of plants exposed to various durations and inter | sities of |
| salinity | |

| 36. | Maximum | electron | transport | rate | after | 28 | days | of | plants | exposed | to | various | durations | and |
|-----|-----------|-------------|--------------|-------|-------|-----|--------|------|--------|-----------|-----|---------|-----------|-----|
| | intens | ities of sa | linity | | | | | | | | | | | 90 |
| 37. | Oxygen me | tabolism | in the light | for p | lants | exp | osed t | o tv | wo 2-d | ay pulses | ofs | alinity | | 91 |

ABSTRACT

Salinity determines the ranges of many submerged aquatic plant species. Storm surges, water control structures, and changes in rainfall can cause salinity pulses of various durations and intensities in estuaries. These changing salinity levels can have significant effects on the growth and persistence of plants, especially in oligohaline and freshwater regions. I tested the recovery from salinity pulses of various intensities and durations on *Hydrilla verticillata*. I measured the baseline salinity tolerance of *Heteranthera dubia* for two-week pulses. I measured the effects of repeated pulses on H. verticillata, H. dubia, and Vallisneria americana. Finally, I tested the differences between instantaneous and gradual salinity pulses on these three species. I used various plant morphology and metabolism variables to determine stress, including growth, branch/blade number and maximum length, above and belowground biomass, maximum quantum yield and maximum electron transport rate, chlorophyll a, b, and a/b ratio, and light and dark oxygen flux. The species showed different levels of salinity tolerance. *H. dubia* was stressed at 5 PSU and survived until 10 PSU, H. verticillata was stressed in 3 PSU and died in 10+ PSU, and V. americana did not experience stress in 0-10 PSU. Both duration and intensity of pulses affected submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV), but intensity was the driving factor. Recovery from pulses was slow and plants still showed reduced growth from one-day pulses after 28 days of recovery. Repeated pulses resulted in linear decreased growth rather than the stepwise pattern expected, indicating that little recovery occurred between pulses. Gradual additions of salinity did not appreciably increase the tolerance of these species to stressful levels of salinity compared to instantaneous increases. Overall, the growth related variables (length, branching, and biomass) were much stronger indicators of stress than variables related to photosynthesis. This study will aid in the interpretation of monitoring data and enable more informed site selection for SAV restoration and *H. verticillata* removal both by defining the levels of salinity stressful to these species and identifying the role salinity pulses, even over short durations, can play in limiting the survival of both native and invasive SAV.

The Effects of Salinity Pulses of Varying Duration and Intensity on Three Freshwater Submerged Aquatic Vegetation Species

INTRODUCTION

Submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) is a vital component of many freshwater, estuarine, and coastal systems. These aquatic macrophyte beds can provide nursery and refuge habitats, supply primary production, and improve water quality (Fonseca and Cahalan 1992, Larkum et al. 2006, Lazzari and Stone 2006, Orth et al. 2010). SAV has declined rapidly in the past several decades due in part to human impacts and environmental change (Orth et al. 2006). In the Chesapeake Bay, although there has been a resurgence of low salinity species in some areas, an increased understanding of possible stressors is still necessary for their management (Orth and Moore 1984, Carter and Rybicki 1990, Short and Neckles 1999, Moore et al. 2000, Orth et al. 2006, Orth et al. 2010).

Salinity is a major stressor of freshwater and oligohaline SAV; it often determines their distribution in estuaries (eg. Twilley and Barko 1990, Doering et al. 2001, Lirman and Cropper 2003, Frazer et al. 2006, Lacoul and Freedman 2006, Shields et al. 2012). Salinity tolerances of SAV species have usually been determined using different levels of fixed salinity concentrations; however, this does not reflect the frequent and often drastic salinity fluctuations in estuaries that may have significant effects. Pulses of high salinity have many causes including physical processes, such as climate, as well as anthropogenic alterations in river flow. Storm surge is a common cause of rapid short-term salinity pulses. During coastal storms oceanic water can be driven into an estuary by winds, waves, and low pressure systems, causing unusually high water levels and increased salinity (Li et al. 2006). These storm surges may raise salinity rapidly; in extreme cases salinity can increase by over

~ 2 ~

10 PSU within a few hours (Maryland Department of Natural Resources– Resource Assessment Service 2003, Frazer et al. 2006). There are several examples of storm surge driven salinity increases in Florida. Frazer et al. (2006) reported storm driven salinity increases up to 20 PSU in the typically tidal freshwater portion of Kings Bay. Lauer (2010) reported salinity to change by more than 12 PSU over a few hours in St. Johns River, Florida. Decreases in freshwater inflow due to seasonal changes in rainfall or drought can result in salinity increases. However this typically occurs at more gradual rates (over weeks or months) compared to storm surges (hours or days) as evidenced by continuous monitoring at many fixed sites in the Chesapeake Bay (VECOS, http://www2.vims.edu/vecos/; MDDNR Eyes on the Bay,

http://mddnr.chesapeakebay.net/eyesonthebay/index.cfm).

One of the most significant causes of rapid and pronounced salinity change is the alteration of freshwater discharge for agricultural irrigation and municipal uses (Estevez 2000, Doering et al. 2001). Water control, such as the diversion or use of freshwater inflows , have the potential to decrease river discharge, thus allowing higher salinity water to move further up estuary, thereby increasing salinity (Estevez 2000, Doering et al. 2001). Water control structures are often opened and closed periodically, resulting in pulses of fresh and saline water over SAV beds; this is particularly common in Florida, where estuaries are small and ocean water can progress up the estuaries rapidly (Doering et al. 2001). Since SAV improve water quality and habitat, and are often seen as indicators of ecosystem health and restoration success, the impact of salinity on these species should be taken into considerations when determining water release. Since SAV are rooted and cannot move to areas of more suitable salinity, they are good indicators of the effects of water flow alterations. Despite this, water release regulations are sometimes based only on

~ 3 ~

the requirements of one or a few (usually commercially important) species and not the entire ecosystem (Estevez 2000). In many systems other objectives, such as the control of erosion and flooding, or human water needs are used to determine the release or use of freshwater water inflows (Estevez 2000).

Environmental stressors can have additive effects in combination with salinity stress. If plants are under stress due to one environmental factor, adding another stressor can cause more severe effects. Light and salinity are often a focus for experiments investigating additive effects on SAV (Twilley and Barko 1990, French 2001, French and Moore 2003, Dobberfuhl 2007, Boustany et al. 2010). Light levels may be an important factor in the study of salinity intrusion, as the estuarine turbidity maximum (ETM) is usually located at the freshwater-saltwater interface. The ETM is an area of increased suspended sediments trapped at the freshwater-saltwater interface by flocculation and water movement (eg. Kranck 1981, Burchard and Baumert 1998, Manning et al. 2006, Kessarkar et al. 2009). If saline water flows further up estuary, this suspended sediment may also move up estuary, shading freshwater SAV beds at the same time as the salinity pulse passes.

The compounded effects of the increased salinity and decreased light at the freshwater-saltwater interface may have a greater affect on SAV than salinity or turbidity alone. Other SAV stressors may correspond to salinity pulses due to storm surge, including increased nutrient runoff, higher water levels, changes in temperature, and scouring from high wind and wave action (Santamaría and van Vierssen 1997, Greening et al. 2006, Lacoul and Freedman 2006, Li et al. 2006). Epiphyte growth can also vary with salinity; it often increases when salinities are higher and/or plants become stressed, possibly due to damaged, less ridged leaves increasing attachment sites, and may cause a further reduction in light reaching the SAV blades (Kendrick et al. 1988, Twilley and Barko 1990).

~ 4 ~

Mechanisms of Salinity Stress

Salinity stress affects plants in a number of ways; it lowers osmotic potential and increases the diffusion of water out of the leaves (Touchette 2007). Salinity stress is partially due to the osmotic potential affecting the movement of ions across cell membranes; this requires either increasing the concentration of ions in the cytoplasm or compartmentalizing them in the cell vacuole (Parida and Das 2005, Touchette 2007). Unlike many wetland species, SAV lack salt excreting glands and cannot prevent sodium from entering their leaves, making them osmoconformers (Twilley and Barko 1990). As osmoconformers, freshwater SAV cannot exclude salinity ions in order to be resistant to saline pulses, instead recovery from these pulses would show resilience. The sodium (Na+) in saltwater can compete with K+ for uptake into the cell, thus replacing essential potassium (K+) with toxic Na+ (Twilley and Barko 1990, Touchette 2007). In H. verticillata and V. americana an increase in salinity corresponded in a decrease in K+ in leaf tissues (Twilley and Barko 1990). ATPases can help to increase the selectivity to K+ (Niu et al. 1995, Touchette 2007). Some plants can accumulate the excess Na+ in vacuoles instead of the cytoplasm (Touchette 2007). Plants may also overcome osmotic stress by increasing the concentrations of simple and complex sugars, sugar alcohols and organic metabolites, such as proline (Touchette 2007).

In aquatic and wetland species, saltwater can lead to the formation of reactive, often cytotoxic, oxygen species (ROS) such as peroxides and oxygen radicals (Rout and Shaw 2001, Parida and Das 2005). These ROS can form rapidly after salinity addition; ROS and lipid hydroperoxides were found in assays only 24 hours after salinity was raised (Lauer et al. 2010). Antioxidant enzymes for breaking down these compounds are needed in facultative halophytes (Rout and Shaw 2001, Parida and Das 2005). Therefore, these

~ 5 ~

enzymes are likely to be involved in salinity tolerance. Some freshwater SAV species produce increased superoxide dismutase (SOD) when they are exposed to salinity stress (Rout and Shaw 2001). Since these molecules may be one cause of salinity-induced damage to the plants, and they can be detected before any visible sign of stress, they may be useful in monitoring the early stages of salinity stress.

Since changes in ROS, and the enzymes that break them down, are difficult to detect, other measures of plant stress are often used. Plant growth rate and plant mortality are easily observable and ecologically relevant measures of stress, but measuring them involves tracking beds or individual plants over time and changes only become evident when plants have sustained major losses. A loss of leaf chlorophyll or a decrease in the chlorophyll a/b ratio may indicate salinity stress (Twilley and Barko 1990, Rout and Shaw 2001), but this decrease may not be evident, even in highly stressed plants (French 2001). Photosynthesis is often used as an indicator of SAV stress and has been measured using O₂ metabolism in enclosed bottles both at ambient light to measure photosynthesis and in the dark to measure respiration (Lewis and Smith 1983, Sorrell and Dromgoole 1986, Caffrey and Kemp 1991, Lewis 2004).

Photosynthetic rates are also approximated using pulse amplitude modulated fluorometry (PAM). PAM measures relative maximum electron transport rate (rETR_{max}) and maximum quantum yield (MQyield), using rapid light curves on dark-adapted leaves. MQyield is the rate at which photosynthesis increases with an increase in irradiance after dark adaptation and rETR_{max} is the rate of photosynthesis at optimal irradiance (Beer et al. 1998, Ralph et al. 1998, French and Moore 2003).

~ 6 ~

Study species

Heteranthera dubia, Hydrilla verticillata, and Vallisneria americana are SAV species common in rivers and lakes as well as the freshwater or oligohaline zones of estuaries in all coastal US states, as well as many inland areas (USDA and NRCS 2009). They are all common in the low salinity regions of the Chesapeake Bay, often forming mixed beds (Moore et al. 2000). Although they often grow in mixed beds, they differ in terms of morphology and physiological requirements. Therefore, increasing our understanding of their individual responses to salinity stress can provide insight to the potential overall SAV community response and susceptibility to natural and anthropogenic salinity changes.

<u>Heteranthera dubia</u>

Heteranthera dubia (commonly called water stargrass and grassleaf mud-plantain; sometimes referred to as *Zosterella dubia*) is native to the United States. It has a branching structure with thin alternate leaves and yellow 'star-like' flowers. Its salinity range is not well studied. It is usually found in fresh water or extremely low salinity areas (Moore et al. 2000). When exposed to salinities of five PSU or higher its aboveground biomass significantly decreased compared to that of plants grown in zero PSU (Moore and Shields 2010). One objective of this study is to define *H. dubia*'s salinity tolerance more precisely. *Hydrilla verticillata*

Hydrilla verticillata (commonly called hydrilla and water thyme) is highly branched; it has whorls of small pointed leaves with toothed margins. It is invasive in the United States; probably originating from southeast Asia (Cook and Lüönd 1982, Peterson et al. 2009). Its ability to grow in minimal light, form thick canopies, and grow from small stem fragments allows it to spread rapidly throughout a freshwater system (Sutton et al. 1980, Langeland 1996). Although it is an invasive species, *H. verticillata* still provides many of the

~ 7 ~

ecosystem services of native SAV, including habitat for fish and invertebrates and primary production (Staver 1994, Rybicki and Landwehr 2007). However, its rapid growth and canopy forming morphology can shade out other plant species (Langeland 1996).

Hydrilla verticillata can also have a human impact by blocking channels and impeding boat traffic (Langeland 1996). It can also fill agricultural drainage and irrigation ditches and block pumps used to control agricultural water movement, resulting in damage to crops (Langeland 1996). Control of *H. verticillata* is often ineffective, since stem fragments can grow into new plants and attempts to remove plants manually often spread populations. Control has been attempted through introduction of grass carp (Sutton and Vandiver 2006), fungal infection (Nelson and Shearer 2009) and herbicides (MacDonald et al. 2008). However, these methods can have negative effects on freshwater ecosystems and are difficult to remove from the system once the *H. verticillata* is controlled.

Hydrilla verticillata is sensitive to salinity and previous research suggests that it may be more sensitive to salinity than some other fresh water species (Table 1). In field surveys in the Chickahominy River, Virginia, it was only found growing in salinities below 2 PSU (Shields et al. 2012). Germination is stressed at very low salinities with a 50% reduction in germination at 3 PSU (Carter et al. 1987). Previous studies show that by 5 PSU growth generally ceases and plants appear stressed, although one study (Littles 2005) seems to find an exception, plants showing no stress at 5 PSU and with some plants in 5 PSU showing more growth than the controls. All other studies found a decrease or halt of growth around 5 PSU, with some stress evident as low as 2 PSU (Table 1).

The proliferation of *H. verticillata* in enclosed or semi-enclosed systems such as aquaculture and irrigation ditches is a major issue. Current methods of *H. verticillata* control, such as the use of herbicides, may also threaten the crop species and surrounding

~ 8 ~

environment. Improving our understanding of short-term (1-2 day) elevated salinity pulses on this species may help in management as well as helping to predict its spread into new areas.

| | Results | No propagules germinated above 9 PSU. Less than 50% germinated in 3 PSU. Over 90% were viable in 0 PSU. | Growth decreased at 5 PSU, plants died at 15 and 25 PSU for all durations. Salinities below 5 PSU were not tested. | Plants died at 10 PSU and above. No growth was observed at 6.66 PSU, and no stress in 0.17 and 3.33 PSU. | No stress was evident at 5 PSU, 100% mortality at 15 and 25 PSU. Salinities below 5 PSU were not tested. | Superoxide dismutase and peroxidases increased with salinity in all species. Ascorbate peroxidases increased in <i>H.</i> <i>verticillata</i> . More salt tolerant species had a stronger enzymatic response than <i>H.</i> <i>verticillata</i> . | A significant decrease in biomass occurred at 2 and 4 PSU, and more marked decrease at 6 and 12 PSU. Stem density and length only decreased at 6 and 12 PSU. |
|------------------------|------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| א טוו ח. אבו נוכווומנט | Measurement methods | Germination, plant length | Blade/ branch number, biomass, plant number, turions, | Biomass | Blade/branch length and number, biomass, vegetative repro, turions | ROS, antioxidants, chlorophyll a/b ratio | Biomass, density, length, epiphytes, turions |
| | Factors | Salinity | Salinity | Salinity | Salinity | Salinity | Salinity and light |
| חו וווב בוובר | Exposure time | 5-6 weeks | 1, 2, and 7 days | 4 weeks | 1, 2, and 7 days | 9 hours | 5 weeks |
| וורמו ובסחורז | Salinity addition | Instant | Gradual | Instant | Not noted | Instant | Gradual (1-2 PSU per day) |
| | Study type | Mesocosm | Mesocosm | Mesocosm | Mesocosm | Flasks | Mesocosm |
| | SAV Species | H. verticillata | V. americana, H. verticillata, Myriophyllum spicatum | V. americana, H. verticillata, M. spicatum, Najas quadalupensis | V. americana, H. verticillata, M. spicatum | H. Verticillata, Najas indica and Najas gramenia | V. americana, H. verticillata, M. spicatum, Potamogeton perfoliatus |
| | Citation | Carter et al. 1987 | Frazer et al. 2006 | Haller et al. 1974 | Littles 2005 | Rout and Shaw 2000 | Twilley and Barko 1990 |

TABLE 1. Summary of previous experimental results of the effect of salinity on H verticillata

 $\sim 10 \sim$

Vallisneria americana

Vallisneria americana (commonly called water celery and eelgrass) has long straplike leaves originating from a single basal rosette. V. americana is more salinity tolerant than the other freshwater SAV species in this study (Haller et al. 1974, Twilley and Barko 1990, Doering et al. 2001, French and Moore 2003, Frazer et al. 2006, Boustany et al. 2010, Moore and Shields 2010, Shields et al. 2012)(Table 2). There is considerable variability in the results of salinity stress studies for *V. americana*; which may be due to possible variations in light levels, water quality, duration of pulses, as well as the specific tolerances of the *V. americana* populations used. In general, stress begins to appear between 10 and 15 PSU and plants start to die between 15 and 18 PSU. Haller et al.(1974) seems to be the largest exception: they found growth to halt at 6.66 PSU and mortality at 13.32 PSU. It is unclear why their plants appeared more sensitive to salinity.

| itation | SAV Species | Study type | Salinity addition | Exposure time | Factors | Measurement methods | Results |
|----------|------------------|------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------|------------------------|--|
| ustany | V. americana | Mesocosm | Gradual | 2.5 and 5 | Salinity | biomass, growth, | Plants died back in 18 PSU, but recovered |
| al. | | | (1 PSU | months | and light | epiphytes, leaf | when returned to 0 PSU. Growth limited at 8 |
| 60 | | | per day) | | | area index | PSU. |
| bering | V. americana | Mesocosm | Gradual | 1, 5, 11, 20, | Salinity | shoot and blade | Most plants died at 18 PSU. Increased |
| al. | | | (2-3 PSU | 30, 50, 70 | | number, blade | exposure duration increases salinity stress. |
| 001 | | | per day) | days | | length | Recovery when plants were returned to fresh |
| | | | | | | | water. |
| oering | V. americana | Field and | Not | 20, 30, 43, | Salinity | shoot and blade | Growth halted between 10 and 15 PSU. |
| : al. | | mesocosm | noted | 50, 69 days | | number, blade | Mortality was seen at 18 PSU and above. |
| 202 | | | | | | length | |
| azer et | V. americana, | Mesocosm | Gradual | 1, 2, and 7 | Salinity | Blade/ branch | Plants showed stress in 15 PSU, plants died in |
| . 2006 | H. verticillata, | | | days | | number, biomass, | 25 PSU. |
| | Myriophyllum | | | | | plant number, | |
| | spicatum | | | | | turions | |
| rench | V. americana | Mesocosm | Instant | ~8 months | Salinity | Biomass, leaf area, | Biomass decreased with increasing salinities. |
| pu | | | | | and light | rETR, reproduction, | Leaf area decreased at 10 and 15 PSU. The |
| loore | | | | | | and photochemical | rETR and chlorophyll did not change. |
| 003 | | | | | | efficiency. | |
| aller et | V. americana, | Mesocosm | Instant | 4 weeks | Salinity | Biomass | Mortality was seen at 13.32 PSU and higher. |
| . 1974 | H. verticillata, | | | | | | No growth was seen in 6.66 and 10 PSU, and |
| | M. spicatum, | | | | | | no stress in 0.17 and 3.33 PSU. |
| | Najas | | | | | | |
| | quadalupensis | | | | | | |

TABLE 2. Summary of previous experimental results of the effect of salinity on V. americana

 $\sim 12 \sim$

| Results | Plants died at 15+ PSU, but did not show stress at 12 PSU or with periodic pulses | above 15 PSU. All factors except | photosynthesis declined in high salinity. | | ROS and lipid hydroperoxides present after 1 | day at 10 + 15 PSU. Respiration doubled in 15 | PSU. After a week, respiration and lipid | hydroperoxides increased in 13 PSU and | effective yield decreased. | No change in growth in 5 PSU, decrease in | biomass at 15 PSU (with mortality after 7 | days), and complete mortality at 25 PSU. | | | Length decreased in 10 PSU for plants grown | in sand, other salinities and sediment types | showed no growth decrease. | | |
|------------------------|--|----------------------------------|---|------------------|--|---|--|--|----------------------------|---|---|--|------------|--------------|---|--|----------------------------|-------------|-----|
| Measurement methods | photosynthesis, glutamine | synthesis, protein, | carbohydrates and | nitrogen content | ROS localization, | respiration and | photosynthetic | efficiency | | Branch / blade | length and | number, biomass, | vegetative | reproduction | Above and | belowground | biomass, length | and density | |
| Factors | Location (light and | salinity) | | | Salinity | | | | | Salinity | | | | | Salinity, | Sediment | type, | competet- | ion |
| Exposure time | Periodic monitoring | 1 week- | 3months | | 1 or 7 days | | | | | 1, 2, and 7 | days | | | | 2 or 7 days | | | | |
| Salinity addition | Instant | | | | Instant | | | | | Not | noted | | | | Gradual | (0.5-1 | PSU per | day) | |
| Study type | Field | | | | Mesocosm | | | | | Mesocosm | | | | | Mesocosm | | | | |
| SAV Species | V. americana | | | | V. americana | | | | | V. americana, | H. verticillata, | M. spicatum | | | V. americana, | H. dubia, | Stuckenia | pectinata | |
| Citation | Kraemer et al. | 1999 | | | Lauer et | al. 2010 | | | | Littles | 2005 | | | | Moore | and | Shields | 2010 | |

TABLE 2. Continued

Rate of Increase

Gradual salinity increases may affect plants less severely than rapid salinity increases since gradual pulses are thought to give the plants time to adapt and reduce shock (Twilley and Barko 1990, Doering et al. 2001). These gradual pulses have been used in many mesocosm experiments (Twilley and Barko 1990, Doering et al. 2001, Frazer et al. 2006). The unusually high levels of stress seen by Haller et al. (1974) may have been due to their use of instantaneous salinity pulses and not letting the plants acclimate. However, this has not been substantiated. For many species of seagrass adapted to oceanic salinities, gradual pulses of hypersalinity were less stressful than instantaneous addition, often by a notable amount (Koch et al. 2007b). However, no studies have explicitly compared gradual with instantaneous changes for oligonaline SAV. Studies on the tolerance of *V. americana* using gradual rates of salinity addition do not always find higher tolerance levels than studies using instantaneous salinity addition. However, changes in exposure durations, light levels, water quality, and individual population differences make comparison between studies impossible (Table 2). It may be that species with a high level of salinity tolerance mechanisms already in place may benefit from gradual exposure to stress. However, it is not evident if reducing the rate of salinity increase significantly reduces stress in plants that do not already have strong salinity tolerance mechanisms such as those found in freshwater and low salinity regions of estuaries.

Measurement Techniques

There are many methods of measuring salinity stress in aquatic macrophytes, each with possible drawbacks. Measurements of growth rates may be impractical in field studies. Identifying and re-measuring the same plant after a growth period is impossible in many field settings, particularly with fast growing plants such as *H. verticillata*, and it does not account for changes due to leaf turnover, herbivory, or sub-lethal effects on plant health, so a variety of approaches may be

~ 14 ~

necessary. The precision and accuracy of photosynthetic capacity tests such as Pulse Amplitude Modulated fluorometry, leaf chlorophyll content, and oxygen metabolism, as well as measures of growth using variables such as maximum leaf lengths, branching, and biomass, and how they compare are not well quantified for SAV.

<u>Objectives</u>

The goal of this study was to investigate and quantify the effects of short-term salinity increases on three SAV species found in low salinity and freshwater regions the Chesapeake Bay. Specific objectives include determining: 1) The salinities at which each of the three study species begin to experience stress, particularly *H. dubia*, where little is known about its salinity tolerance; 2) The effects of pulse intensity and duration on *H. verticillata*; 3) The effects of repeated salinity pulses on different species of SAV; 4) The effects of gradual vs. rapid salinity increase,; 5) The relative capacities for various methods to detect stress.

Understanding salinity tolerance will help quantify the potential effects of natural and anthropogenic salinity changes on ecosystem composition and SAV persistence. As global warming increases sea level and the severity of storms, the potential of the duration and intensity of salinity stress to change species distributions will increase. Understanding the effects of these pulses may help to set water control structure openings while preserving the natural ecology of an area.

METHODS

This study is comprised of five experiments: 1) quantifying the salinity stress associated by pulses of varying durations and salinities in *H. verticillata*; 2) quantifying the salinity tolerance of *H. dubia* at constant salinity levels over a two-week period; 3) quantifying the response of all three test-species to pulsed salinity for seven-day pulses with seven-day recovery periods; 4) quantifying the response of all three test-species to pulsed salinity for two-day pulses with five-day recovery period; 5) quantifying the effects of gradual vs. instantaneous salinity increases on all three species in intermediately stressful salinities. Mesocosm design and measurement techniques were constant across all experimental setups. Variables measured, salinities, and pulse times varied between experiments (Table 3). While Experiments 1 and 2 used only a single pulse in each treatment, Experiments 3, 4, and 5 are more complicated and so the patterns of salinity addition are presented in graphical form in Figure 1.

In experiment 1, *H. verticillata* was exposed to pulse salinities of either 3, 5, 10, or 15 PSU instantaneously, left for a duration of either 1, 7, 15, or 28 days and returned to 0 PSU for the remainder of the 28-day experiment. In experiment 2, *H. dubia* plants were exposed to pulse salinities of 0, 3, 5, or 10 PSU for two weeks; measurements were recorded weekly. In experiment 3, *H. dubia, H. verticillata and V. americana* were raised to 0, 5, or 10 PSU instantaneously for seven days then returned to 0 PSU for the same period, this was repeated to give two seven-day pulses with seven-day recovery periods in between (Figure 1). In experiment 4, plants of *H. dubia, H. verticillata, and V. americana* were raised to 0, 3, 5, or 10 PSU for two, two-day salinity pulses with

~ 16 ~

five-day fresh water recovery periods in between (Figure 1). Experiment 5 consisted of 4 treatments, a freshwater control (A), a constant salinity control (B), plants held in freshwater for the first week and then raised instantaneously to the designated salinity (C), and plants where the salinity was raised gradually over the first week and held stable for the second (D)(Figure 1). *Heteranthera dubia was* raised to 5 PSU, *H. verticillata* was raised to 3 PSU, and *V. americana* was raised to 10 PSU; these were not fatal salinities but salinity levels that were likely to demonstrate stressed conditions of reduced growth that might be ameliorated by gradual salinity increases.

| Exp. | Plant species | Salinities (PSU) | Pulse duration(s) | Additional variables * |
|------|---|-------------------------------------|---|-----------------------------------|
| 1 | H. verticillata | 0, 3, 5, 10, 15 | 1, 7, 15, and 28 days | Total lengths |
| 2 | H. dubia | 0, 3, 5, 10 | 14 days | chlorophyll, oxygen metabolism |
| 3 | H. dubia, H. verticillata, V. americana | 0, 3, 5, 10 | 7 days salt, 7 days recovery x2 | None |
| 4 | H. dubia, H. verticillata, V. americana | 0, 3, 5, 10 | 2 days salt, 5 days recovery x2 | chlorophyll, oxygen metabolism |
| 5 | H. dubia, H. verticillata, V. americana | 3 for Hv, 5 for Hd, 10 for Va | 14 days, 7 days, and gradually increased then 7 days | chlorophyll, oxygen metabolism |

TABLE 3. Summary of methods.

*Max leaf length, branch/leaf number, MQyield, rETRmax, biomass, and mortality were measured in all treatments, unless noted.

Mesocosm Design

The SAV plants used in all experiments in this study were planted in 1.9-liter plastic pots filled with sediment collected near a natural SAV bed in the freshwater region of the Chickahominy River, Virginia. Each pot was 15cm tall and 17cm in diameter. Three plants were planted per pot and each pot was placed in a white, 19-liter plastic mesocosm container filled with dechlorinated tap water. The large containers were 35cm tall with a top diameter of 29cm and a basal diameter of 25.5cm. The only exception to this was Experiment 1 (*H. verticillata* concentration and duration). In that experiment, only two plants were used per mesocosm and the sediment placed directly into the 19-liter containers to 5 cm deep, instead of into a separate pot. This methodology was altered to allow for changes in salinity without excess turbidity. In Experiments 2, 3, 4, and 5, the water surface was 21 cm above the sediment in the pot.

The mesocosm containers were placed randomly in a large nursery tank of water to equalize temperature across treatments (Figure 2). Water in each container was bubbled with air and filtered with aquarium carbon filters (clear-free filters, Penn-Plax, New York). Each week water quality (temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen (DO)) was measured using a YSI 6820V2 sonde (Yellow Spring Instruments, Ohio) to assure that these variables remained consistent across treatments. Temperature changes between the main tank and a nearby experimental container were measured using Hobo continuous temperature loggers (Onset, MA). Salinity was measured twice weekly and was kept within 0.25 PSU of the treatment values (levels were usually within 0.1). The containers were covered with clear Plexiglas to block rain and evaporation and the entire setup was covered with neutral density shade cloth to reduce irradiance to between 25 and 30 percent of ambient. Plants were kept at zero PSU for five to seven days prior to each experiment to reduce the effects

~ 19 ~

of planting stress, and then adjusted to experimental values. Entire plants for *V. americana* including intact leaves and roots, 6-10 cm apical segments of *H. dubia*, and 4-6 cm apical segments of *H. verticillata* were used for transplants. Sediment organic content was calculated using ash-free dry weight and sediment partial size was calculated according to Plumb (1981).

Stress Measurement Methods

Stress was measured using both non-destructive and destructive techniques. Nondestructive techniques were used at the start of each experiment and periodically during the studies. These included measurements of maximum blade/branch length, number of blades/branches, maximum electron transport rate, and maximum quantum yield. Destructive methods were used at the end of each experiment and included above and belowground biomass, and organic content. In Experiment 5, shoot or leaf chlorophyll a and b content were also measured. In Experiments 2 and 4, oxygen metabolism and chlorophyll a and b content were measured. Growth was determined by measuring the branch or blade number and by the length of the longest branch or blade, minus the initial values. In Experiment 1, the length of every branch on each plant was also measured and these were summed to give total branch lengths. The above and belowground weight of each plant was also determined, using the total dry weight of all of the plant material in each mesocosm container. Plant organic content was calculated using ash-free dry weights. The number of flowers was noted at each measurement time.

Photosynthetic efficiency and capacity were measured using PAM (pulse-amplitude modulated) fluorometry using a Walz diving-PAM (Diving PAM-2000, Heinz Walz, Germany). PAM fluorometry measures chlorophyll a florescence, which can be used to determine the electron-transport rate of photosystem II (Beer et al. 1998, WALZ 1998,

~ 20 ~

Durako and Kunzelman 2002, French and Moore 2003). Rapid light curves, ten-second light pulses of nine levels of increasing irradiance, were used to measure rETR_{max}, photosynthetic capacity, and MQyield, photosynthetic efficiency (Figure 3). Leaves were dark adapted for ten minutes with leaf clips in order to assure that reaction centers are open and the effect of ambient light levels were minimized (Beer et al. 1998, Ralph et al. 1998, WALZ 1998, French and Moore 2003). The rETR_{max} was calculated by averaging the three highest consecutive rETR values from a light curve, which in most cases correspond to the plateau (French 2001). The central portion (around 10 cm from the sediment) of the second youngest healthy leaf on *V. americana* plants and the apical group of leaves of the longest branch of *H. dubia* and *H. verticillata* plants was used for PAM readings; one reading was taken per mesocosm container. Data in which the F₀ value is below 70 was discarded, since these samples had too little base fluorescence to give accurate results (K.A. Moore, personal conversation).

Photosynthesis and respiration rates were measured using oxygen metabolism. Measuring dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations exchanged from photosynthetic tissue in water is commonly accepted as a measure of SAV photosynthesis and respiration (Lewis and Smith 1983, Caffrey and Kemp 1991, Lewis 2004, Torquemada et al. 2005). In this study, leaves were taken from one plant in each pot. A four-centimeter segment, 10 cm from the base of second order blade was used for *V. americana*. For *H. verticillata*, the top four centimeters were used, and for *H. dubia*, the apical whorl (3-4 leaves) of the longest stem was used. The leaves were cut at least 30 minutes before they were placed in the BOD (biological oxygen demand) bottles to allow air to drain from their cut lacunae (Lewis 2004); if air spaces are not cut, air trapped in airspaces may lead to erroneous data (Sorrell and Dromgoole 1986). For the last 15 minutes of the 30-minute incubations, the leaves

~ 21 ~

were dark-adapted. Then the leaves were placed in 300 ml BOD bottles in a water bath kept at the average temperature of the tanks outside (Lewis and Smith 1983). For photosynthesis measurements, BOD bottles were filled with de-chlorinated tap water bubbled with nitrogen to lower initial DO. Oxygen was measured using a DO probe initially and after two hours. For the photosynthesis measurements, the bottles were covered with shade cloth to approximately 700µmol/m²/sec. For respiration measurements, the same basic procedures were followed; however, the water was not bubbled with nitrogen. Blackened BOD bottles were used to reduce the ambient light to zero, and the exposure time was increased to ten hours. Dry weights of samples of leaf material were used to correct photosynthesis measurements for unit weight.

Chlorophyll was measured on frozen leaf segments collected using the methods listed above for the photosynthesis and respiration tests. An extracting solution of 45% acetone, 45% dimethyl sulfoxide, 10% DI water, and 0.1% DEA buffer was used (Shoaf and Lium 1976); this was shown in preliminary tests to be far more effective than acetone alone and removed almost all of the chlorophyll with no need for cutting or grinding the samples (Wright unpublished). Samples were left in the extracting solution for 24 hours and then read on a UV spectrophotometer (UV-1800, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Chlorophyll a, b, and total chlorophyll were calculated following equations for samples treated with DMSO (Arnon 1949). Although this method was developed for use with acetone, results were comparable to those obtained from equations developed by Wellburn for pure DMSO extraction (Wellburn 1994).

Levels of Stress

In order to standardize discussions of stress across species and experiments, four levels of stressfulness were used:

~ 22 ~

- **No stress**: plants show no significant difference in growth, morphology, and biomass from those grown in 0 PSU. Plants can probably grow at this salinity level in the field.
- Moderate stress: Plants show positive net growth while in the salinity treatment, but significantly less growth than in the 0 PSU control treatments. Plants may survive in these salinities, at least for short-term pulses, but they may be more susceptible to other stressors and their competitive abilities may be reduced.
- Severe stress: Plants show no net growth (or a net loss of tissue) while they are exposed to the salinity pulse. Plants would probably not survive permanently in this salinity.
- **Fatal**: Plants die within the experimental timeframe.

Statistical Analyses

Normality was determined by histogram appearance (McDonald and Delaware 2009). Lognormal data were transformed with a natural log correction. After transformation, Levene's test was used to determine homogeneity of variance (there were no cases where this test was violated). ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc tests were used to compare the effect of salinity level on growth after each pulse and recovery period. For post-hoc comparisons an alpha of p=0.05 was chosen to show significance and p<0.05 and >0.1 was used to identify non-significant trends. If plants died during an experiment such that there were less than three replicates in a treatment, that treatment was excluded from the statistical analysis. In cases where only two treatments remained, t-tests were used in place of ANOVAs. In some cases, especially when sample sizes were low, data were not perfectly normal, in these cases, it was noted, but ANOVAs were still used. All statistics were run in R (R Development Core Team 2012). An interpolation of summed lengths for Experiment 1 was run in SigmaPlot (Systat Software, San Jose, CA).

RESULTS

Growth, Morphology, and Biomass

Experiment 1: The effect of duration and intensity of salinity pulses on *H. verticillata* Environmental conditions

Organic content of the sediment was 6.43% with a grain size distribution of 26.6% silt, 19.3% clay, 54.1% sand, and no gravel. Weekly measures of water quality showed no temporal trends. The mean temperature was 29.83°C, with a range of 5.16°C and a standard error of 0.201. The pH mean was 8.54, the range was 2.91, and the standard error was 0.100. Mean water column dissolved oxygen was 8.12; values ranged by 4.18 mg/L and had a standard error of 0.114.

<u>Results</u>

Plants exposed to the higher salinities showed high levels of mortality. At 15 PSU, the plants died at all levels of pulse duration, only one plant remained after one day of exposure (Figure 4). At 10 PSU, all exposures greater than 24 hours were fatal. The majority of plants in lower salinities did not experience mortality.

The total branch lengths at the end of the experiment minus the initial branch lengths show the effects of both salinity and duration (Figure 5). The effects of both salinity and duration can be seen compared to the horizontal line representing the control plants in 0 PSU. Plants appeared to respond linearly as exposure duration increased. In general, higher salinities resulted in slower growth, although the growth of plants exposed to 3 PSU for one day was higher than the growth of those in 0 PSU (Figure 5).

~ 24 ~

Salinities of 3 and 5 PSU were selected to examine the relative effects of salinity and duration since they were determined to cause intermediate stress in *H. verticillata*. Since most of the plants in salinities of 10 and 15 died, those salinities were classified as fatal for durations over 24 hours and were not included in the AIC analysis. Analysis indicated initial summed lengths were not significantly different between treatments, so final summed lengths (rather than initial minus final) were used. The final length data for 3 and 5 PSU treatments were log transformed to achieve normality and homogeneity of variance. An ANOVA of this data was significant for duration (p<0.0001), salinity (p<0.0001), and the interaction term (p=0.0265). An AIC analysis was used to calculate the effects of the single factor, additive, and interactive models. The interactive model was found to be the best representation of the data, the salinity alone and duration alone models had negligible weights (Table 4).

| Model | Log likelihood | AICc | DeltaAIC | Weight |
|----------------------|----------------|-------|----------|--------|
| y~ duration*salinity | 2.93 | 7.46 | 0.00 | 0.796 |
| y~ duration+salinity | -0.047 | 10.20 | 2.74 | 0.202 |
| y~ duration | -8.29 | 21.16 | 13.70 | 0.001 |
| y~ salinity | -9.52 | 23.61 | 16.15 | 0.000 |

Table 4. Results of the AIC analysis of *H. verticillata* growth.

Based on the AIC analysis, longer durations of exposure were found to be more detrimental to plant growth (Figure 6). Plant growth was found to drop dramatically with salinity in all of the tested durations, but the drop is more intense in longer exposure durations. The effect of salinity pulse duration on plant growth was most apparent at intermediate salinities (Figure 7). The peak at 3 PSU seen in the summed length data was not evident in biomass measurement (Figure 8). Other than this, the general biomass trends mirrored the changes in length. Looking at only 3 and 5 PSU again, the duration (p<0.0001) and the salinity effects (p =<0.0001) were significant; however, the interaction effect was absent. A general linear additive model also showed significant duration and salinity effects (intercept=2.8252, duration effect= -0.0572, salinity effect=-1.4816). The belowground biomass data was variable but a significant effect of salinity was seen (p=0.0164) (Figure 8).

Branch number followed the trends for the other growth variables indicating that this will serve well as a proxy for growth (Figure 9). Duration (p=0.0011) and salinity (p<0.0001) had a significant effect on plant branch number when 3 and 5 PSU were compared, as with biomass, an interaction was absent. The average maximum lengths of plants in each salinity treatment were lower than the lengths of the 0 PSU controls, even for the plants exposed to 3 PSU for one day, where stress was not otherwise evident (Figure 10). When 3 and 5 PSU were compared duration had a weak effect (p=0.0280) on maximum branch length, while salinity did not have a significant affect.

During exposure to saline pulses, plants in 3 PSU grew only slightly; they began to recover once the salinity returned to 0 PSU, placing them in the moderate stress category (Figure 11). Plants in 5 PSU suffered severe stress with a complete lack of growth while exposed to saline water and, in the longer durations, there was a net decrease in growth (Figure 12). Most of the plants exposed to 10 and 15 PSU pulses died.
Experiment 2: The salinity tolerance of *H. dubia*

Environmental conditions

The temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen did not vary greatly among experimental containers (Table 5). Temperatures warmed over the course of the experiment (Figure 13), but the standard error between containers was less than 0.02 °C (Table 5). Regular checks of temperature in the tank and adjacent containers showed only slight differences, which averaged 0.30 degrees higher in the container with a standard error of 0.0076, this indicates that any greenhouse effect caused by the Plexiglas rainguards was minor (Figure 14). The most drastic peaks were likely due to rain events cooling the tank water more rapidly than the mesocosm containers.

Table 5. Mean water quality during Experiment 2.Standard error values reported in parenthesis.

| Day | Temperature (°C) | рН | DO% |
|-----|---------------------|-------------|--------------|
| 1 | 19.06 (0.01) | 8.12 (0.02) | 101.0 (0.05) |
| 3 | 20.56 (0.00) | 8.20 (0.01) | 100.0 (0.08) |
| 9 | 22.30 (0.01) | 8.17 (0.01) | 101.2 (0.06) |
| 14 | 26.67 (0.02) | 8.54 (0.01) | 104.0 (0.14) |

Salinity was found to have a significant effect on the growth of *H. dubia*. The maximum length (ANOVA, p<0.0001, Figure 15) and branch number (ANOVA, p<0.0001, Figure 16) of *H. dubia* decreased with salinity. The plants in 3 PSU grew and branched comparably to those in fresh water. The plants in 5 PSU, still grew, although less than that of the control plants. Plants in 10 PSU lost length over the experiment, dropping from 8-10 cm to approximately 5 cm tall. These plants did not stop growing completely, as they gained on average 1-2 branches over the experiment.

The aboveground biomass of *H. dubia* also decreased with salinity (ANOVA, p= 0.0027, Figure 17). The aboveground biomass of plants grown in 10 PSU was less than that

of plants in 0 and 3 PSU, while other treatment combinations showed no significance. The aboveground percent organic content was lower for plants in 10 PSU than in 0, 3, and 5 PSU (p<0.0001, Figure 18). Belowground biomass and percent organic content did not change significantly, although a trend towards decreasing biomass with salinity was present (Figure 17).

Maximum branch length over time was approximately linear, with some leveling off in the 0 and 3 PSU treatments when branches reached the water's surface (~21 cm). Linear regressions were used to compare approximate growth rates (Figure 19). Plants in 0 and 3 PSU grew at comparable rates of 1.2 and 0.95 cm's/day (R²=0.9624 and 0.9615). Plants in 5 PSU grew at less than half that rate, 0.48 cm/day (R²=0.9154). Plants in 10 PSU decreased lengths over the study period at a rate of 0.34 cm/day (R²=0.9941).

Based on these values, plants in 3 PSU were not subject to stress as defined here, plants in 5 PSU were subject to moderate stress (since they continued to grow), and plants in 10 PSU were subject to severe stress.

Experiment 3: The response of *H. dubia*, *H. verticillata*, and *V. americana* to repeated seven day salinity pulses

Environmental conditions

The temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen did not fluctuate greatly among

mesocosm containers (Table 6).

| | Temperature (°C) | рН | Dissolved Oxygen (%) | |
|------------|---------------------|-------------|-------------------------|--|
| Initial | 26.12 (0.02) | 8.16 (0.01) | 101.11 (0.26) | |
| Pulse 1 | 26.60 (0.03) | 8.27 (0.05) | 101.00 (0.19) | |
| Recovery 1 | 25.47 (0.04) | 8.49 (0.01) | 103.44 (0.31) | |
| Pulse 2 | 24.07 (0.04) | 8.53 (0.06) | 105.13 (0.41) | |

Table 6. Mean water quality during Experiment 3. Standard errorvalues reported in parentheses.

<u>Heteranthera dubia</u>

Initial maximum length values did not differ, so the final lengths were compared directly. There were no significant differences (p=0.1145) among salinity treatments, but there was a trend towards decreasing maximum lengths in the more saline treatments (Figure 20). Branch number decreased with salinity (p<0.0001, Figure 21). Plants pulsed with 10 PSU branched less than those in 5 or 0 PSU did. Plants in the 10 PSU pulses all showed a net decrease in length and either a constant or decreased branch number, putting them into the severe stress category, 5 PSU plants showed little or no stress.

Aboveground biomass decreased significantly with salinity (p=0.0001, Figure 22). Plants exposed to 5 and 10 PSU pulses had less final biomass than those in 0 PSU, and plants in 10 PSU pulses grew less than plants in 5 PSU. Belowground biomass followed a similar pattern (p<0.0001 Figure 23). Plants in 5 and 10 PSU pulse treatments had less final biomass than those in 0 PSU and plants in the 10 PSU pulses grew less than plants in 5 PSU.

~ 29 ~

Organic content decreased with salinity in both above and belowground plant material (p=0.0001, above; p<0.0001, below, Figure 24 and 25). Above and belowground organic content was higher in 0 PSU than in the 10 PSU pulse treatment. In both treatments, organic content of plants exposed to 10 PSU was bordering on being significantly lower than plants in the 5 PSU pulses.

Based on these results, the 5 PSU plants suffered either minor or no stress and the 10 PSU plants suffered severe stress.

<u>Hydrilla verticillata</u>

All of the plants exposed to pulses of 10 PSU died. This treatment was labeled as fatal, so only 0 and 5 PSU were compared. Maximum length (p=0.0070, Figure 20) and branch number (p=0.0002, Figure 21) were both greater in 0 PSU than in 5 PSU. The same was true for both aboveground biomass (p= 0.0034, Figure 23) and belowground biomass (p=0.0070, Figure 24). Plant organic content did not vary among treatments.

Vallisneria americana

Vallisneria americana showed no change in maximum lengths (p= 0.6500) or branching (p=0.4703) among the treatments. Biomass aboveground showed a nonsignificant trend towards being greater in 0 PSU than in 10 PSU pulses (p=0.0640, Figure 23). Belowground biomass was slightly higher in 5 than in 10 PSU (p=0.0497, Figure 24). Organic content showed no trends. Given the minimal effects of the treatments, all salinities were classified as having no stress.

Experiment 4: The response of *H. dubia*, *H. verticillata*, and *V. americana* to repeated two day salinity pulses

Environmental conditions

| | Sal | inity | | рН | Disso Oxyge | olved n (%) |
|------------|------|--------|------|--------|----------------|----------------|
| Initial | 0.14 | (0.00) | 8.36 | (0.01) | 101.18 | (0.08) |
| Recovery 1 | 0.20 | (0.01) | 8.35 | (0.02) | 102.36 | (0.16) |
| Recovery 2 | 0.18 | (0.01) | 8.55 | (0.03) | 102.29 | (0.30) |

Table 7. Mean water quality during Experiment 4. Values measured during each of the freshwater pulses. Standard error values reported in parentheses.

Note: Since salinities were adjusted as measurements were taken, temperatures increased drastically over the measurement period (8am-11am). Because of this, the temperature average and error did not truly capture the field values. Temperature from a HOBO logger is reported in its place (Figure 26).

<u>Heteranthera dubia</u>

No plants died over the course of the experiment. The change in maximum lengths was greater in 0, 3, and 5 PSU than in 10 PSU pulses (p=0.0002, Figure 27). Branch number followed a lognormal pattern, and so the natural log of branch number was used in analysis. As with length measurements, the final branch number decreased as salinity increased (p= 0.0046, Figure 28). Plants in 10 PSU had fewer branches than those in 0 PSU. There was a non-significant trend towards plants in 3 and 5 PSU having fewer branches than those in 0 PSU pulses. Biomass and the natural log of organic content were measured for both the above and belowground sections of plants, but there were no significant differences for any of the four variables.

As with the *H. dubia* tolerance experiment (Experiment 2), salinities of 0 and pulses of 3 PSU did not result in stress. The 5 PSU pulse treatment, which was moderately stressful in the tolerance experiment, showed no stress, but it is not clear if this is due to the decreased exposure time (4 days instead of 2 weeks) or a beneficial effect of the fresh water pulses. The 10 PSU treatment was highly stressful, but not fatal, in both experiments.

~ 31 ~

<u>Hydrilla verticillata</u>

In this experiment three of the four plants exposed to 10 PSU pulses died. Due to this fact, 10 PSU was considered fatal to the plants and therefore was not included in the comparative statistics. Branching and organic content were corrected using a natural log transformation. The initial maximum lengths of plants in 5 PSU pulses were higher than those of plants in 0 and 3 PSU (p= 0.0081). Due to this, change the difference in maximum length over the experiment was used instead of total final length. The change in maximum length did decrease with increasing salinity (p=0.0013, Figure 27). Length increase was greater for plants in 0 PSU than for plants in either 3 or 5 PSU pulses. Final branch number also decreased with salinity showing a significant decrease between 0 and 5 PSU (p= 0.0243, Figure 28). Final biomass and organic content showed no change with salinity both above and belowground. The 3 PSU pulse treatment showed moderate or no stress, the plants in 5 PSU pulses experienced severe stress, and the plants in 10 PSU pulses died. *Vallisneria americana*

Many of the *V. americana* plants died during the first week after planting, possibly due to transplant stress. These plants were replaced with plants of the appropriate size. No additional plants died during the experiment. After the initial acclimation period, maximum lengths and branch numbers were not different between treatments so final maximum lengths were used for statistical analyses of the effects of salinity on plant performance of this species. These final maximum lengths showed a non-significant trend towards decreasing in higher salinities (p=0.0749, Figure 27). Unlike the other species, the branch numbers did not need to be log transformed (possibly, because adult plants were used instead of unbranched cuttings). As with maximum length, there was a non-significant trend towards a lower number of branches in higher salinities (p=0.0695, Figure 28). Biomass

~ 32 ~

was not significantly different among the treatments for the above (p=0.2591) or belowground (p=0.6546) material.

Organic content of the aboveground material did significantly decrease with salinity (p=0.0234). Plants pulsed with 5 and 3 PSU had organic contents similar to those in 0 PSU. Plants exposed to pulses of 10 PSU had a lower aboveground organic content than those in 3 PSU and showed a non-significant trend towards lower organic contents than plants in 0 and 5 PSU. The organic content of the belowground plant material was not significant (p= 0.7131). *Vallisneria americana* did not show stress in 3 or 5 PSU pulses. Plants in 10 PSU did not show a decrease in growth although the decrease in organic content may indicate moderate stress.

Experiment 5: The effects of gradual vs. rapid salinity increase.

<u>Heteranthera dubia</u>

The initial maximum plant lengths did not differ among treatments (p=0.1905). After one week the plants exposed to 5 PSU salinity (treatment B) showed a trend towards shorter plants than those exposed to freshwater (treatments A and C) (p=0.0529). After two weeks this trend was no longer apparent (p=0.1116; Figure 29).

There were no differences in the initial branch number (p=0.3259). After one week the data indicated a trend towards fewer branches in the 5 PSU treatment, (p=0.0999). There were also no significant differences in treatment effects after the second week (p=0.1524; Figure 30).

<u>Hydrilla verticillata</u>

There were no significant differences in initial maximum lengths in the treatments (p=0.8031). After one week, plants in 3 PSU (B) grew significantly less than those in freshwater (treatments A and C), the two freshwater treatments were the same, and plants exposed gradually to salinity (treatment D) grew at an intermediate level different from the plants in both 0 and 3 PSU (p<0.0001). After two weeks, plants that were permanently in 3 PSU (treatment B) showed a trend towards shorter maximum lengths than those permanently in fresh water (treatment A), but the instant and gradual pulse treatments (C and D) were not different from either fresh, 3 PSU, or each other (p=0.0629; Figure 29).

The initial branch numbers did not differ (p= 0.3758) among treatments. After one week, the plants exposed to 3 PSU salinity (treatment B) had fewer branches than those in freshwater (A and C) and those where the salinity was raised gradually (treatment D). After two weeks, the plants kept at 3 PSU (treatment B) still had fewer branches than those

maintained in fresh water (treatment A), and plants whose salinity was raised gradually (treatment D) were more stressed than those in fresh water (treatment A) (Figure 30). *Vallisneria americana*

There were no apparent differences in maximum lengths initially (p=0.5322), after one week (p=0.9229) or two weeks (p=0.9094) exposure to 10 PSU salinity. Branch numbers also did not differ initially (p=0.7561) after one week (p=0.5760) or two weeks (p=0.2435).

Photosynthetic Stress Responses

Chlorophyll

In Experiment 2 (*H. dubia* only), both chlorophyll a and b per unit dry weight tended to have a slight peak at 3 PSU and decrease at 10 PSU (Figure 31). For chlorophyll a, leaf tips in 0, 3, and 5 PSU had significantly more chlorophyll than those in 10 PSU while 0, 3, and 5 were not statistically different from each other (p=0.0001). Chlorophyll b followed the same pattern as chlorophyll a, it was higher in 3 and 5 PSU than in 10 PSU, and there was a trend towards higher chlorophyll in 0 than in 10 PSU (p= 0.0050). The chlorophyll a to b ratio did not change significantly with salinity, but there was a non-significant trend towards a lower ratio in higher salinities (p=0.0611; Figure 32). Chlorophyll a and the a/b ratio were log transformed to achieve normality. Chlorophyll a and b showed a peak at 3 PSU and a decrease in 10 PSU.

In Experiment 3 (weeklong pulses) only *H. dubia* showed significant differences among the treatments. Chlorophyll per unit dry weight tended to peak with 5 PSU pulses and decrease in 10 PSU pulses (Figure 33). Plants exposed to 5 PSU pulses had significantly more chlorophyll a than those in the 10 PSU pulses, while plants in 0 PSU showed a nonsignificant trend towards having more chlorophyll a than those in 10 (p=0.0219). Chlorophyll b followed the same pattern as chlorophyll a, it was higher in 0 and 5 PSU than in 10 PSU (p= 0.0034). The chlorophyll a/b ratio increased with increasing salinity (p<0.0001), increasing from around 3 to an average of 17 (Figure 34). Chlorophyll a and the a/b ratio was log transformed to achieve normality. The chlorophyll a, b and a/b ratio of *V. american*a and *H. verticillata* showed no significant relationships with salinity, although the chlorophyll a/b ratio did show a non-significant increase in 5 PSU for *H. verticillata*. Chlorophyll content of plants exposed to 10 PSU was not measured for *H. verticillata* due to fatality at that salinity (Table 8). *Heteranthera dubia* showed a minor increase in

~ 36 ~

chlorophyll a and b in 5 PSU and a decrease in 10; the other species showed no change in chlorophyll.

| Species | A | В | a/b ratio |
|---------|--------|--------|--------------|
| Hv | 0.6154 | 0.7354 | 0.09403 |
| Va | 0.1638 | 0.2133 | 0.1309 |

Table 8. Non-significant p-values formeasures of chlorophyll in Experiment 3.

In Experiment 4 (two day pulses), none of the comparisons were significant nor were there any non-significant trends for any species. P-values are shown in Table 9. For *H. verticillata* only 0, 3, and 5 PSU were compared, due to mortality in 10 PSU. Chlorophyll a and a/b ratios were log transformed for *H. verticillata*.

Table 9. Non-significant p-values formeasures of chlorophyll in Experiment 4.

| Species | а | В | a/b ratio |
|---------|--------|--------|--------------|
| Hd | 0.1271 | 0.3011 | 0.5145 |
| Hv | 0.6197 | 0.499 | 0.803 |
| Va | 0.7142 | 0.7512 | 0.5876 |

Pulse Amplitude Modulated Fluorometry

The F value (a variable that indicates the signal strength of the fluorescence) was below threshold in many plants. The sample size was too low to compare statistically in almost every dataset. No apparent trends exist in the data. MQyield (Figure 35) and rETR_{max} (Figure 36) are shown for the final (day 28) timepoint in the *H*. verticillata duration and intensity experiment (Experiment 1). PAM measurements were taken every week (sometimes more often) in every experiment; however, none of the data showed clear trends with salinity treatments.

Oxygen Metabolism

Oxygen metabolism was measured in the two-day pulse experiment (Experiment 4) as the change in oxygen per hour per leaf-tip dry weight in the light and dark. Oxygen change in the light was consistently positive; in the dark treatments, it was consistently negative. The increase in the light was around an order of magnitude greater than the decrease in the dark. For *H. dubia, oxygen* metabolism in the light treatment was higher in 10 PSU than in 3 PSU and showed a trend towards being greater than 0 PSU (p=0.0300) (Figure 37). For *H. verticillata* (p= 0.1334) and *V. americana* (p=0.2418), oxygen flux in the light was not significant. For both of those species, 10 PSU was not included due to plant death in *H. verticillata* and a missing data point in *V. americana*. Respiration was not significant in any of the species (p=0.3014, 0.5376, and 0.4156).

DISCUSSION

Freshwater submerged aquatic vegetation species studied here were found to be very sensitive to both the duration and intensity of salinity pulses. Even short pulses and low concentrations of salinity had noticeable effects on *H. dubia*, *H. verticillata*, and *V. americana*. The tolerance differed greatly between species from the most sensitive, *H. verticillata*, to the somewhat salt-tolerant *V. americana*. Recovery, both after single pulses and between repeated pulses, was slow, suggesting that even brief pulses of salinity may an important determinant of SAV bed community composition.

Salinity Tolerance Levels

The freshwater SAV used in this study were shown to have markedly different tolerances to both the duration and intensity of salinity stress. *Heteranthera dubia* began to show stress when exposed to between 5 and 10 PSU. *Hydrilla verticillata*, the most sensitive, experienced stress in 3 PSU. *Vallisneria americana* performed well in all of the experimental salinities.

Heteranthera dubia experienced no stress at 3 PSU and severe stress at 10 PSU across all of the experiments. Table 10 summarizes the stress of *H. dubia* to the varying durations of salinity exposure studied here. Salinities of 5 PSU sometimes caused no stress and sometimes moderate; stress was lower when the duration of exposure was brief. Mortality was not seen, but it is likely not far above 10 PSU. The salinity tolerance of *H. dubia* has not been well studied. Moore and Shields (2010) found stress at 10 PSU and no stress at 5 PSU, which supports my findings. Bergstrom et al. (2006) reported the optimal

~ 39 ~

growth range to be 0-4 PSU, and a survival range of 0-8. This supports findings reported in this study, although I found *H. dubia* is capable of surviving short pulses of 10 PSU.

Table 10. Stress levels based on growth variables for *H. dubia*. Green = no stress, yellow = minor stress, orange= severe stress, and red = mortality. Slashed boxes indicate a stress level between the two colors.



Hydrilla verticillata is the least salinity tolerant of the species used in this study. It began to show stress around 3 PSU, was moderately to severely stressed at 5, and died in 10+ PSU (Table 11). These results confirm previous findings for fatal salinities, usually reported at 10 or 15 PSU. Although the levels of stress seen in this study confirm others' findings (Carter et al. 1987, Twilley and Barko 1990), some previous studies found no stress at 3 PSU (Haller et al. 1974) and some found no stress as high as 5 PSU (Littles 2005). A field study (Shields et al. 2012) shows that *H. verticillata* may be even more sensitive when other stressors and competition are present. In the Chickahominy River, VA, *H. verticillata* was restricted to upstream sites when drought years caused a salinity of 4 PSU in downstream sites. It is possible that the methods used in this study allowed for the detection stress at lower salinities or that the initial population of *H.verticillata* was more susceptible to salinity stress, since small cuttings without ample energy reserves were planted. Bergstrom et al. (2006) report the optimal growth range to be 0-5 PSU and a survival range of 0-9 PSU. This is more saline than the ranges I found. In my study, the plants were classified as "stressed" at 3 PSU, by 5 they were no longer growing, and they could not survive 10 PSU.

~ 40 ~

Based on my work, an optimal growth range of 0-3 PSU and a survival range of 0-5 PSU may be more accurate; although different populations and growth conditions may be responsible for the discrepancy.

Table 11. Stress levels based on growth variables for *H. verticillata*, for experiment 1, durations over 1 day were included. Green = no stress, yellow = minor stress, orange = severe stress, and red = mortality. Slashed boxes indicate a stress level between the two colors.



Vallisneria americana is the most tolerant of the three species; it showed minor or no stress at all salinities up to 10 PSU as summarized in Table 12. Some studies have suggested that this species is stressed at 5-10 PSU and dies around 15 (Haller et al. 1974, French and Moore 2003, Boustany et al. 2010). However, other studies support the results observed here, that stress is not evident until over 10 PSU (Twilley and Barko 1990, Kraemer et al. 1999, Doering et al. 2002, Frazer et al. 2006, Moore and Shields 2010). Bergstrom et al. (2006) report the optimal growth range to be 0-5 PSU and a survival range of 0-12. This is much lower than the values found here, since stress was still not visible here at 10 PSU. The lack of stress seen may be due to the planting methods. Adult plants of *V. americana* were used in the current experiment. These plants had blades reaching the **water's surface**, improving light capture, and reducing the need for further blade elongation. The adult plants may also have had stored carbon reserves in their roots and leaves, which may have enabled them to survive on reserved carbon for the short pulses of high salinities. The leaves of plants in the 10 PSU treatments appeared paler and less rigid than plants in

fresh water indicating that salinity may cause noticeable stress not far above 10 PSU.

Table 12. Stress levels based on growth variables for *V. americana*. Green = no stress, yellow = minor stress, orange = severe stress, and red = mortality. Slashed boxes indicate a stress level between the two colors.



Duration and Recovery

There was an effect of pulse duration on salinity stress in *H. verticillata*, which has proved difficult to determine statistically in previous studies (Frazer et al. 2006). This effect was most noticeable when comparing pulses one week or longer with one-day pulses; however, even after 28 days of recovery, stress from one-day pulses was noticeable as summarized in Table13. The effect of duration was clearest in intermediately stressful salinities (3 and 5 PSU) (Figure 7 and Table 13). These results suggest that salinity stress can continue to affect this species for weeks after the salinity reduced to 0 PSU. Despite this, the effect of salinity appears stronger than the effect of duration.

Table 13. Growth as a factor of duration and salinity for *H. verticillata*. Green = no stress, yellow = minor stress, orange = severe stress, and red = mortality. Slashed boxes indicate a stress level between the two colors.



~ 42 ~

Also in experiment 1, a slight peak in branch number for *H. verticillata* plants exposed to 3 PSU for one day was seen in this experiment, but was not seen in the length or total biomass. This morphological change was observed by Twilly and Barko (1990). They also saw a sub-fatal increase in branch number (referred to as stem density) for *H. verticillata*, although this was observed at 6PSU, rather than the 3 PSU seen in this experiment. From personal observation, this appears to be a possible survival mechanism, where stressed *H. verticillata* will grow many short fragile branch tips, which then break off. Theoretically, these may drift to an area with more favorable conditions and then grow into new plants.

Repeated Pulses

Contrary to expectations, returning plants to fresh water after short salinity pulses did not result in a rapid recovery. Although plants left in fresh water eventually begin growing again (Experiment 1), the growth of plants exposed to repeated salinity pulses appears to be linear, rather than stepwise. The loss was not due to the inclusion of dead plant tissue in the measurements since tissue that appeared to be decaying (no visible green pigments and complete lack of rigidity) was removed before growth variables were measured. Since variables were measured after each salinity and freshwater pulse, it is possible that growth or loss were not linear and that recovery occurred at times in between measurements. Overall, however, the data did not appear follow a pattern of loss during the salinity pulses and regrowth during the freshwater recovery periods.

It is likely that stress resulting from salinity was not removed when the salinity level was returned to 0 PSU. Physiological damage caused by salinity stress may continue to stress the plants after the salinity in the water was reduced. Since free radicals and

~ 43 ~

peroxides are produced during salinity stress, some enzymes used to combat them can be impaired (Rout and Shaw 2001). The effects of salinity on enzymatic function may be one mechanism by which this occurs; however, it is unclear how long this continues after salinity stress is removed. Plants may also utilize their stores of energy during the pulse, such that they do not have the same resources available for continuing growth compared to plants not exposed to even short pulses of salinity stress. For *H. dubia*, the decline in chlorophyll a and b may have limited the plants' ability to photosynthesize, and thus decreased the oxygen produced. There were also noticeable color changes in all three species. *Vallisneria americana* turned yellow or tan in 10 PSU. *Hydrilla verticillata* became brown in stressful salinities and *H. dubia* leaf tips turned black. Although the mechanism behind this change is unclear, the change in color may prevent light from reaching the photosystem as effectively. Stressed plants also lost structural rigidity, and the leaves of all species began to feel more "gel-like" although this was not quantified, it may indicate damage to the cell membranes and vascular system due to osmotic stress.

The Effects of Gradual vs. Rapid Salinity Increase

Many studies mention the rate at which plants are exposed to stress as a possible cofactor affecting salinity tolerance (Twilley and Barko 1990, Doering et al. 2001), and the general assumption has been that gradual exposure lessens stress; however, few data are available to support these statements. My results do not support this view. When *H. verticillata* and *H. dubia* were either gradually exposed to stressful salinity or left in fresh water for a week and instantaneously raised to the same salinity there were no significant differences in length or branching. Although growth rates were low in this study (Experiment 5) making it difficult to identify significance between the growth rates of plants exposed to different pulse patterns; based on the length and branching (Figures 29

~ 44 ~

and 30), it appears that the average growth for plants exposed gradually is usually lower than plants exposed instantly. This may be because the plants were exposed to a lower level of salinity for longer periods in gradual exposure compared to rapid exposure.

The hypothesis that gradual pulses lead to lower stress was based in part on the supposition that it may allow the enzymes involved in salinity tolerance to accumulate. Rout and Shaw (2001) found that antioxidative enzymes may be able to reduce oxidative stress and that some of those, such as superoxide dismutase, do increase in reaction to salinity exposure. However, they observed these increases only 9 hours after an instantaneous pulse, indicating that gradual increase over days or weeks may not be necessary. They also found that most of the enzymes occurred in *Najas gramenia*, which has a large range of salinity tolerance. Thus, it is possible that gradual increases help plants that already have some capacity to withstand saline pulses, but do not greatly affect species that do not manufacture a wide range of antioxidative enzymes. This may be why Koch (2007a) found that species of seagrass growing in oceanic salinities were less affected by hypersalinity stress when exposed to pulses gradually.

Variable Comparisons

Overall, direct measurement of growth, branching, or biomass seem to be a more effective measure of salinity stress than any of the photosynthetic variables (MQyield, rETR_{max}, chlorophyll, and oxygen flux).

Photosynthetic efficiency and capacity were surprisingly even across salinity stress levels. In the examples shown (Figures 35 and 36) only one plant exposed to 15 PSU was still alive and it was only a few centimeters tall, however, both its MQyield and rETR_{max} were almost identical to the plants in no or low salinity. The plants in the 28-day treatment were still in saltwater at this point, but showed no reduction in the efficiency or capacity of

~ 45 ~

photosystem II from plants in fresh water. The lack of a decline observed here may be due to the low florescence readings; the base fluorescence (Fo) was often close to the operating threshold signal levels, so it may not have been able to pick up small changes accurately. The most likely explanation is that photosystem II is not noticeably impacted by salinity stress in these plants. Although data exists for using PAM on light stress, it has rarely been used to measure salinity stress. French (2001) used PAM to measure the interactive effects of light and salinity on *V. americana*. Although she found a significant effect of salinity on MQyield, it explained very little of the variance, there was an interaction term with light levels, and stress was not evident until the plants had started to die back, about a month after the growth variables indicated stress. As with this study, she found no effect of salinity on rETR_{max}. It appears that changes in MQyield and rETR_{max} are minor, even in salinities fatal to the plants.

Changes in chlorophyll per leaf dry weight with salinity concentrations were only significant for *H. dubia* in Experiments 2 and 3. The chlorophyll content of *V. americana* and *H. verticillata* were not significantly different in Experiment 3 and none of the species showed a change in Experiment 4. In Experiment 2, *H. dubia* chlorophyll a and b had an intermediate peak at 5 PSU and decreased at 10 PSU; in Experiment 3, the results followed a similar pattern, but the peak occurred at 3 PSU (which was not measured in Experiment 3). This peak may be due to a combination of a change in the chlorophyll content per unit leaf area and a possible decrease in the structural material and subsequent drop in the dry weight of the leaf section. No previous studies have looked at *H. dubia* chlorophyll in relation to salinity.

The lack of a response of chlorophyll to salinity in *V. americana* is concurrent with the lack of stress measured in other variables. The absence of a significant change in *H.*

~ 46 ~

verticillata was surprising, but other studies have also found no relationship between chlorophyll quantity and salinity in stressed plants (Twilley and Barko 1990, French 2001, Rout and Shaw 2001).

The chlorophyll a/b ratio of *H*. dubia showed a non-significant decreasing trend with increasing salinity in Experiment 2, but increased significantly with salinity in Experiment 3. Rout and Shaw (2001) found that the ratio of chlorophyll a to b of *H*. *verticillata* decreased in high salinities. There does not seem to be any published data to support a ratio increase, but the jump from a normal ratio of around 2-3 to an average ratio of 11-20 occurred in all three replicates, so it is unlikely that it was a measurement error. The change in chlorophyll a/b ratio may be due to the decline in both chlorophyll a and b and loss of plant tissue.

Oxygen metabolism was only measured for the two-day pulse experiment (Experiment 4). Since the chlorophyll quantity, photosystem efficiency, and photosystem capacity were not affected, for *H. verticillata* or *V. americana* neither was oxygen metabolism. Kraemer (1999) found no significant difference in photosynthesis using similar methods, even in fatal salinities and as plants were dying. However, in this study the oxygen metabolism for *H. dubia* increased. These results are inconsistent, as stress typically reduces photosynthetic rate. The increase was not evident until a correction for dry weight was applied, so this may be due to a decrease in dry weight per unit leaf area. More research is needed to confirm these results.

Interspecies Competition

Freshwater SAV typically grows in mixed communities of many species (Moore et al. 2000) with potentially different habitat requirements for optimum growth. Changing environmental conditions may therefore alter the composition of this community. Species

~ 47 ~

range is primarily determined by salinity (Twilley and Barko 1990, Moore et al. 2000, Doering et al. 2001, Frazer et al. 2006, Orth et al. 2010, Shields et al. 2012). Changes in salinity can restrict species with low salinity tolerance, such as *H. verticillata* to upstream lower salinity sites. However pulses of high salinity can also cause die-backs of easily stressed native species, leaving bare ground that can be rapidly colonized by *H. verticillata* after the elevated salinity levels retreat (Shields et al. 2012). Dobberfuhl et al. (2012) examined the effects of short pulses on the SAV of the St. Johns River, Florida, and found that short (one week) pulses would not have a drastic effect on SAV distribution. However, they only used data for *V. americana*, which has a much higher salinity tolerance than many species. It may be that while the distribution of SAV may remain constant after short salinity pulses, the composition of those beds may change as the less tolerant species become restricted to lower salinity regions of the estuary. Currently, there are no studies evaluating the responses of natural mixed SAV beds to short pulses of various strength and duration.

Applications and Impacts

This work emphasizes the need for continuous monitoring of salinity levels in locations where they are variable. A pulse of 10 PSU for 24 hours may be unnoticeable in data averaged over time or collected periodically, but it may be enough to cause a dieback in species such as *H. verticillata*. Salinity may be an important driver of storm surge related mortality, which is often attributed to nutrient or toxic inputs to a system, or low light levels caused by excess runoff. Short-term water quality monitoring (on the order of minutes or hours) may be necessary to understanding salinity stress, especially since plants may show clear stress 28 days after a one-day salinity pulse. This research also shows that photosynthetic measurements (chlorophyll content, PAM measurements of photosystem

~ 48 ~

condition, and direct measurements of photosynthesis, and respiration) are not effective at determining plant stress due to salinity; and only by measuring cover, length, biomass, and other physical growth properties periodically can stress be accurately detected.

The results of this study will improve future restoration and invasive species control by highlighting the need to determine site viability based on salinity variability rather than average salinity conditions alone. In an environment where salinity is variable, it may be necessary to use more salinity tolerant species for restoration efforts than average salinity values would suggest. Likewise, if salinity intrusion is likely during occasional dry periods or years in areas where *H. verticillata*, has become dominant during wet years, *H. verticillata* control may be less important.

Understanding how salinity pulses affect SAV may enable anthropogenic water control to have less drastic impacts on estuarine ecosystems. From these studies, long pulses of low salinity seem to affect these species less than short pulses of high salinity. This suggests that releasing water gradually and constantly through water control structures will have less of a negative affect than rapid pulses of very high and very low freshwater flows.

Climate change may alter salinity levels and therefore may have an effect on SAV abundance and persistence in some areas. Najjar (2010) predicts that climate change will likely increase the frequency of droughts and the intensity of storms and may alter patterns of precipitation. This will possibly result in an increase in the variability of salinity. This combined with sea level rise may result in salinity changes and pulses of salinity intruding further upstream than they have done in the past.

~ 49 ~

Conclusions

In conclusion, short-term salinity pulses can be stressful to freshwater SAV. Recovery from these pulses may be slow and the stress resulting from short pulses of salinity is visible long after the pulse has receded. Due to this slow recovery, pulsing salinity does not greatly reduce the salinity stress to the plants, even when the recovery periods are longer than the salinity pulses. The maximum level of salinity seems to be more important than the pattern of salinity change. It is also clear that freshwater SAV such as those studied here have very different levels of salinity tolerance. The invasive species *H. verticillata* has the lowest tolerance of the species investigated in this study. This indicates that salinity pulses may restrict its range to areas further upstream than other species in the freshwater mixed SAV community, while the more tolerant *V. americana* may survive into the oligohaline region of an estuary.

LITERATURE CITED

- Arnon, D. I. (1949) Copper enzymes in isolated chloroplasts, Polyphenoloxidase in *Beta vulgaris*. *Plant Physiology*, 24, 1-15.
- Beer, S., B. Vilenkin, A. Weil, M. Veste, L. Susel & A. Eshel (1998) Measuring photosynthetic rates in seagrasses by pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) fluorometry. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 174, 293-300.
- Bergstrom, P. W. 2006. Underwater Grasses in Chesapeake Bay & Mid-Atlantic Coastal Waters: Guide to Identifying Submerged Aquatic Vegetation. Maryland Sea Grant College.
- Boustany, R. G., T. C. Michot & R. F. Moss (2010) Effects of salinity and light on biomass and growth of *Vallisneria americana* from Lower St. Johns River, FL, USA. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 18, 203-217.
- Burchard, H. & H. Baumert (1998) The Formation of Estuarine Turbidity Maxima Due to Density Effects in the Salt Wedge. A Hydrodynamic Process Study. *Journal of Physical Oceanography*, 28, 309-321.
- Caffrey, J. M. & W. M. Kemp (1991) Seasonal and spatial patterns of oxygen production, respiration and root-rhizome release in *Potamogeton perfoliatus L.* and *Zostera marina L. Aquatic Botany*, 40, 109-128.
- Carter, V., N. Rybicki & C. Schulman (1987) Effect of salinity and temperature on germination of monoecious Hydrilla propagules. *Journal of aquatic plant management,* 25.
- Carter, V. & N. B. Rybicki (1990) Light attenuation and submersed macrophyte distribution in the tidal Potomac River and estuary. *Estuaries and Coasts,* 13, 441-452.
- Cook, C. D. K. & R. Lüönd (1982) A revision of the genus Hydrilla (Hydrocharitaceae). *Aquatic Botany*, 13, 485-504.
- Dobberfuhl, D., B. Chamberlain, S. Hall, C. Jacoby, R. Mattson, L. Morris, J. Slater, K. Moore, B. Virnstein & F. Palatka. 2012. Submerged Aquatic Vegetation Working Group. In *St. John's River water supply impact study*, eds. E. F. Lowe, L. E. Battoe, H. Wilkening, M. Cullum & T. Bartol. Palatka, Florida.
- Dobberfuhl, D. R. (2007) Light limiting thresholds for submerged aquatic vegetation in a blackwater river. *Aquatic Botany*, 86, 346-352.
- Doering, P. H., R. H. Chamberlain & D. E. Haunert (2002) Using Submerged Aquatic Vegetation to Establish Minimum and Maximum Freshwater Inflows to the Caloosahatchee Estuary, Florida. *Estuaries*, 25, 1343-1354.
- Doering, P. H., R. H. Chamberlain & J. M. McMunigal (2001) Effects of Simulated Saltwater Intrusions on the Growth and Survival of Wild Celery, Vallisneria americana, from the Caloosahatchee Estuary (South Florida). *Estuaries*, 24, 894-903.
- Durako, M. J. & J. I. Kunzelman (2002) Photosynthetic characteristics of Thalassia testudinum measured in situ by pulse-amplitude modulated (PAM) fluorometry: methodological and scale-based considerations. *Aquatic Botany*, 73, 173-185.
- Estevez, E. D. 2000. A review and application of literature concerning freshwater flow management in riverine estuaries. Sarasota, FL: Mote Marine Library.

- Fonseca, M. S. & J. A. Cahalan (1992) A preliminary evaluation of wave attenuation by four species of seagrass. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 35, 565-576.
- Frazer, T., S. Notestein, C. Jacoby, C. Littles, S. Keller & R. Swett (2006) Effects of storminduced salinity changes on submersed aquatic vegetation in Kings Bay, Florida. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 29, 943-953.
- French, G. 2001. Effects of Light and Salinity Stress on *Valisneria amricana* (Wild Celery). In *Biological Science*, 140. Gloucester Point, VA: Virginia Institute of Marine Science.
- French, G. T. & K. A. Moore (2003) Single and Interactive effects of light and salinity stress on the growth, reproduction and photosynthetic capabilities of *Vallisneria americana*. *Estuaries*, 26, 1255-1268.
- Greening, H., P. Doering & C. Corbett (2006) Hurricane impacts on coastal ecosystems. *Estuaries and Coasts,* 29, 877-879.
- Haller, W. T., D. L. Sutton & W. C. Barlowe (1974) Effects of Salinity on Growth of Several Aquatic Macrophytes. *Ecology*, **55**, 891-894.
- Kendrick, G. A., D. I. Walker & A. J. McComb (1988) Changes in distribution of macro-algal epiphytes on stems of the seagrass Amphibolis antarctica along a salinity gradient in Shark Bay, Western Australia. *Phycologia*, 27, 201-208.
- Kessarkar, P., V. Purnachandra Rao, R. Shynu, I. Ahmad, P. Mehra, G. Michael & D. Sundar (2009) Wind-driven estuarine turbidity maxima in Mandovi Estuary, central west coast of India. *Journal of Earth System Science*, **118**, 369-377.
- Koch, M., S. Schopmeyer, C. Kyhn-Hansen, C. Madden & J. Peters (2007a) Tropical seagrass species tolerance to hypersalinity stress. *Aquatic Botany*, 86, 14-24.
- Koch, M. S., S. A. Schopmeyer, C. Kyhn-Hansen, C. J. Madden & J. S. Peters (2007b) Tropical seagrass species tolerance to hypersalinity stress. *Aquatic Botany*, 86, 14-24.
- Kraemer, G. P., R. H. Chamberlain, P. H. Doering, A. D. Steinman & M. D. Hanisak (1999) Physiological responses of transplants of the freshwater angiosperm Vallisneria americana along a salinity gradient in the Caloosahatchee Estuary (Southwestern Florida). Estuaries and Coasts, 22, 138-148.
- Kranck, K. (1981) Particulate matter grain-size characteristics and flocculation in a partially mixed estuary. *Sedimentology*, 28, 107-114.
- Lacoul, P. & B. Freedman (2006) Environmental influences on aquatic plants in freshwater ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, 14, 89-136.
- Langeland, K. A. (1996) Hydrilla verticillata (L.F.) Royle (Hydrocharitaceae), "The Perfect Aquatic Weed". *Castanea*, 61, 293-304.
- Larkum, A. W. D., R. J. Orth & C. M. Duarte. 2006. Seagrasses: Biology, Ecology and Conservation. Springer.
- Lauer, N., M. Yeager, A. E. Kahn, D. R. Dobberfuhl & C. Ross (2010) The effects of short term salinity exposure on the sublethal stress response of Vallisneria americana Michx. (Hydrocharitaceae). *Aquatic Botany*, In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Lazzari, M. A. & B. Z. Stone (2006) Use of submerged aquatic vegetation as habitat by youngof-the-year epibenthic fishes in shallow Maine nearshore waters. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science,* 69, 591-606.
- Lewis, E. A. 2004. Investigation of relationships between short-term photosynthetic performance and long-term growth of *Zostera marina*. In *Biological sciences*. Glouchester Point, VA: Virginia Institute of Marine Science.
- Lewis, M. R. & J. C. Smith (1983) A small volume, short incubation time method for measurment of photosynthesi as a function of incident irradiance. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 13, 99-102.

- Li, M., L. Zhong, W. C. Boicourt, S. Zhang & D.-L. Zhang (2006) Hurricane-induced storm surges, currents and destratification in a semi-enclosed bay. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33, L02604.
- Lirman, D. & W. Cropper (2003) The influence of salinity on seagrass growth, survivorship, and distribution within Biscayne Bay, Florida: Field, experimental, and modeling studies. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 26, 131-141.
- Littles, C. J. 2005. Effects of rapid salinity change on submersed aquatic plants In Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. Gainesville: University of Florida
- MacDonald, G. E., A. Puri & D. G. Shilling (2008) Interactive Effect of Photoperiod and Fluridone on Growth, Reproduction, and Biochemistry of Dioecious Hydrilla (Hydrilla Verticillata). *Weed Science*, 56, 189-195.
- Manning, A. J., S. J. Bass & K. R. Dyer (2006) Floc properties in the turbidity maximum of a mesotidal estuary during neap and spring tidal conditions. *Marine Geology*, 235, 193-211.
- Maryland Department of Natural Resources- Resource Assessment Service. 2003. Impacts of Hurricane Isabel on Maryland's Aquatic Resources: Initial Assessment.
- McDonald, J. H. & U. o. Delaware. 2009. *Handbook of biological statistics*. Sparky House Publishing Baltimore, MD.
- Moore, K. & E. Shields. 2010. Effects of Varying Salinity, Sediment and Herbivore Pressure on Growth of Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (SAV) in Monoculture and Mixed Plantings Gloucester Point, Virginia: The Virginia Institute of Marine Science
- Moore, K., D. Wilcox & R. Orth (2000) Analysis of the abundance of submersed aquatic vegetation communities in the Chesapeake Bay. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 23, 115-127.
- Najjar, R. G., C. R. Pyke, M. B. Adams, D. Breitburg, C. Hershner, M. Kemp, R. Howarth, M. R. Mulholland, M. Paolisso & D. Secor (2010) Potential climate-change impacts on the Chesapeake Bay. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 86, 1-20.
- Nelson, L. S. & J. F. Shearer (2009) Integrated Weed Management Strategies for Control of Hydrilla.
- Niu, X., R. A. Bressan, P. M. Hasegawa & J. M. Pardo (1995) Ion Homeostasis in NaCl Stress Environments. *Plant Physiology*, 109, 735–742.
- Orth, R. & K. Moore (1984) Distribution and abundance of submerged aquatic vegetation in Chesapeake Bay: An historical perspective. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 7, 531-540.
- Orth, R. J., T. J. B. Carruthers, W. C. Dennison, C. M. Duarte, J. W. Fourqurean, K. L. Heck, A. R. Hughes, G. A. Kendrick, W. J. Kenworthy, S. Olyarnik, F. T. Short, M. Waycott & S. L. Williams (2006) A Global Crisis for Seagrass Ecosystems. *BioScience*, 56, 987-996.
- Orth, R. J., M. R. Williams, S. R. Marion, D. J. Wilcox, T. J. B. Carruthers, K. A. Moore, W. M. Kemp, W. C. Dennison, N. Rybicki & P. Bergstrom (2010) Long-term trends in submersed aquatic vegetation (SAV) in Chesapeake Bay, USA, related to water quality. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 33, 1144-1163.
- Parida, A. K. & A. B. Das (2005) Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 60, 324-349.
- Peterson, A. T., M. Papes & D. A. Kluza (2009) Predicting the potential invasive distributions of four alien plant species in North America. *Weed Science*, **51**, 863-868.
- Plumb, R. H. J. 1981. Procedures for handling and chemical analysis of sediment and water samples. In *EPA Technical Report*, 403. Buffalo, NY: Great Lakes Laboratory, State University College at Buffalo.
- R Development Core Team. 2012. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

Ralph, P. J., R. Gademann & W. C. Dennison (1998) In Situ Seagrass Photosynthesis Measured Using a Submersible, Pulse-Amlitude Modulated Fluorometer. *Marine Biology*, 132, 367-373.

Rout, N. P. & B. P. Shaw (2001) Salt tolerance in aquatic macrophytes: possible involvement of the antioxidative enzymes. *Plant Science*, 160, 415-423.

- Rybicki, N. B. & J. M. Landwehr (2007) Long-term changes in abundance and diversity of macrophyte and waterfowl populations in an estuary With exotic macrophytes and improving water quality. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52, 1195-1207.
- Santamaría, L. & W. van Vierssen (1997) Photosynthetic temperature responses of freshand brackish-water macrophytes: a review. *Aquatic Botany*, 58, 135-150.
- Shields, E., K. Moore & D. Parrish (2012) Influences of Salinity and Light Availability on Abundance and Distribution of Tidal Freshwater and Oligohaline Submersed Aquatic Vegetation. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 35, 515-526.
- Shoaf, W. T. & B. W. Lium (1976) Improved extraction of chlorophyll a and b from algae using dimethyl sulfoxide. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 21, 926-928.
- Short, F. T. & H. A. Neckles (1999) The effects of global climate change on seagrasses. *Aquatic Botany*, 63, 169-196.
- Sorrell, B. K. & F. I. Dromgoole (1986) Errors in measurements of aquatic macrophyte gas exchange due to oxygen storage in internal airspaces. *Aquatic Botany*, 24, 103-114.
- Staver, L. W. 1994. The Impacts of the Exotic Species *Hydrilla Verticillata* on the Shallows in Chesapeake Bay. In *Proceedings of the 1994 Chesapeake Research Conference: Toward a Sustainable Watershed:The Chesapeake Experiment,* eds. P. Hill & S. Nelson. Chesapeake Research Consortium.
- Sutton, D. L., R. C. Littell & K. A. Langeland (1980) Intraspecific Competition of Hydrilla verticillata. *Weed Science*, 28, 425-428.
- Sutton, D. L. & V. V. Vandiver. 2006. Grass Carp: A Fish for Biological Management of Hydrilla and Other Aquatic Weeds in Florida. University of Florida.
- Torquemada, Y., M. Durako & J. Lizaso (2005) Effects of salinity and possible interactions with temperature and pH on growth and photosynthesis of <i>Halophila johnsonii</i> Eiseman. *Marine Biology*, 148, 251-260.
- Touchette, B. W. (2007) Seagrass-salinity interactions: Physiological mechanisms used by submersed marine angiosperms for a life at sea. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 350, 194-215.
- Twilley, R. & J. Barko (1990) The growth of submersed macrophytes under experimental salinity and light conditions. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 13, 311-321.
- USDA & NRCS. 2009. The PLANTS Database: plants profile. Baton Rouge, LA: National Plant Data Center.
- WALZ. 1998. Underwater Fluorometer Diving-PAM: Handbook of Operations. Germany: Heinz Walz GmbH.
- Wellburn, A. R. (1994) The spectral determination of chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b, as well as total carotenoids, using various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 144, 307-313.



Figure 1. Salinity pulse graphical representations. Salinity levels vary between treatments. Black triangles indicate destructive sampling events, measuring all variables listed. Gray triangles indicate length, branching, and PAM. White indicate length and branching only. For all experiments, a control of plants held at 0 PSU was used. For experiment 5, the gradual increase treatment was raised once per day, for 7 days by 1/7th of the final salinity.



Figure 2. Experimental setup: plants in mesocosm containers and nursery tank covered with Plexiglas rain guards.



Figure 3. Definition of MQ yield and rETR max.



Days of Exposure

Figure 4. Percentage of replicates containing surviving *H. verticillata* after 28 days.



Figure 5. Final summed length of all branches of *H. verticillata* after 28 days minus the initial summed lengths. Plants were exposed to various salinities for pulses of various durations and returned to 0 PSU for the remainder of the 28 day period. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 6. Plotted interactive general linear model results growth of *H. verticillata*.



Figure 7. Interpolation of *H. verticillata* growth across salinity intensities and durations.



Figure 8. Above and belowground biomass of *H. verticillata* after 28 days. Plants were exposed to various salinities for pulses of various durations and returned to 0 for the remainder of the 28 day period. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal lines shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.


Figure 9. Branch number for *H. verticillata* after 28 days. Plants were exposed to various salinities for pulses of various durations and returned to 0 PSU for the remainder of the 28 day period. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 10. Maximum branch length for *H. verticillata* after 28 days. Plants were exposed to various salinities for pulses of various durations and returned to 0 PSU for the remainder of the 28 day period. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 11. Length change over time for *H. verticillata* exposed to 3 PSU. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The dotted line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 12. Length change over time for *H. verticillata* exposed to 5 PSU. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The dashed line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 13. Temperature in a mesocosm container over the course of the experiment.



Figure 14. Difference between temperature inside a mesocosm container and the nursery tank.



Figure 15. Change in lengths (final – initial) of *H. dubia* in each of the various salinities after 16 days. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 16. Number of branches of *H. dubia* in various salinities after 16 days. All plants started with one branch. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 17. Above and belowground biomass of *H. dubia* in various salinities after 16 days. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 18. Aboveground organic content of *H. dubia* in each experimental salinity after 16 days. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 19. Average maximum branch length of *H. dubia* in each experimental salinity over time. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 20. Maximum lengths of each species in various salinities. Plants were exposed to designated salinities on days 0 to 7 and days 14 to 21 and returned to 0 PSU at other times. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 21. Branch number of each species in various salinities. Plants were exposed to designated salinities on days 0 to 7 and days 14 to 21 and returned to 0 PSU at other times. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 22. Aboveground biomass for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.







Figure 24. Aboveground organic content for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 25. Belowground organic content for each species after two seven-day salinity pulses. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 26. Temperature change over the experiment.



Figure 27. Change in maximum lengths for each species in various salinities over the course of the experiment. Plants were exposed to designated salinities on days 0 to 2 and days 7 to 9 and returned to 0 PSU at other times. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 28. Change in branch number for each species in various salinities over the course of the experiment. Plants were exposed to designated salinities on days 0 to 2 and days 7 to 9 and returned to 0 PSU at other times. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.



Figure 29. Change in maximum branch or blade length for each species with various salinity adjustment patterens. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 30. Change in branch number for each species with various patterns of salinity adjustment. Error bars represent SEM +/- 1.



Figure 31. Chlorophyll a and b content of *H. dubia* exposed to various salinities. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.



Figure 32. Chlorophyll a/b ratio of *H. dubia* exposed various salinities. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.



Figure 33. Chlorophyll a content of plants exposed to various salinities. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.



Figure 34. Chlorophyll a/b ratio of plants exposed to various salinities. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.



Figure 35. Maximum quantum yield after 28 days of plants exposed to various durations and intensities of salinity. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 36. Maximum electron transport rate after 28 days of plants exposed to various durations and intensities of salinity. Error bars represent SEM +/-1. The horizontal line shows growth of plants in 0 PSU.



Figure 37. Oxygen metabolism in the light for plants exposed to two 2-day pulses of salinity. Error bars represent SEM +/-1.